In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

JAMES RUSSELL SCOTT,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S211670

SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP **16** 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H037923

Monterey County Superior Court, Case No. SS080912

Deputy

The Honorable Mark E. Hood, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE

Whether the defendant is "sentenced on or after October 1, 2011," where the trial court suspends the execution of a prison sentence prior to the Realignment Act's operative date and later executes the sentence upon revoking probation after that date?

STATEMENT

A. The Realignment Act

On April 4, 2011, Governor Brown signed AB 109, which redefined felonies and shifted responsibility for both supervising and housing certain felons and parolees from the state to the county. (See Stats. 2011, ch. 15, § 1 (AB 109).) Sections 17.5 and 3450 of AB 109 reflect the purpose of the Act is to divert "low-level offenders" from state prison to locally run community-based corrections programs, with the goal of creating a more cost-effective system that reduces recidivism and improves public safety.

AB 109 and its companion bills, AB 117, AB 118, AB 116, ABX1 16, and ABX1 17 mandate that felony terms for approximately 500 different crimes be served in local custody instead of state prison. (§ 1170, subd. (h)(1) & (2); see Stats. 2011, ch. 39 (AB 117); Stats. 2011, ch. 40 (AB 118); Stats. 2011, ch. 136 (AB 116); Stats. 2011, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 13 (ABX1 16); Stats. 2011, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 12 (ABX1 17).) Such felons must be nonviolent, nonserious, and nonsexual offenders. (§ 1170, subd. (h)(3).)

The Realignment Act was an urgency measure that took effect the day it was signed, April 4, 2011. (Stats. 2011, ch. 15, § 638.) Its delayed operative date was October 1, 2011. Section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) states: "The sentencing changes made by the act that added this subdivision shall be applied prospectively to any person sentenced on or after October 1, 2011."

B. Trial Court Proceedings

A May 7, 2009, information charged defendant with sale of a controlled substance (Health & Saf. Code, § 11352, subd. (a); count 1), possession of cocaine base for sale (Health & Saf. Code, § 11351.5; count 2), possession of a controlled substance (Health & Saf. Code, § 11350, subd. (a); count 3), misdemeanor possession of marijuana while driving (Veh. Code, § 23222, subd. (b); count 4), and misdemeanor possession of controlled substance paraphernalia (Health & Saf. Code, § 11364, subd. (a); count 5). (1 CT 182-184.) The information further alleged a prior conviction for a controlled substance offense within the meaning of Health and Safety Code section 11370.2, subdivision (a). (1 CT 183.)

On May 7, 2009, defendant pleaded no contest to count 2 and admitted the prior conviction, on condition that he be placed on felony probation with a seven-year suspended prison sentence. (1 CT 186-187, 191.)

On June 12, 2009, the trial court sentenced defendant to the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR) for a period of seven years, suspended execution of sentence, and ordered defendant to serve three years' formal probation. (1 CT 210.) At sentencing, the trial court stated:

So as to Count 2, the Court imposes the middle term of four years. Court imposes an additional three years pursuant to [Penal Code section¹] 1170.2(a) [sic] for a total of seven years. Court stays execution of that sentence and orders defendant placed on probation

 $[\P] \dots [\P]$

¹ All further citations to statute are to this code unless otherwise specified.

The Court orders defendant to serve 252 days in the county jail, credit for 252 days served—168 actual days and 84 conduct credit.

It's not that—not that punishment could be warranted, I think the defendant's at a stage in his life where he can do time, and as much as you want to give him, it's not going to change a thing. He is where he is. And as you know, I'm sure much better than I do, any [] time you don't get now you're going to get later if you mess it up so—that's the deal.

(1 RT 8, 10.) The remaining charges and allegations were dismissed under section 1385. (1 CT 211.)

On October 4, 2011, the probation department filed a petition to revoke probation pursuant to section 1203.2. It alleged defendant had violated his probation by failing to complete a drug treatment program. (1 CT 269.)²

On November 1, 2011, defendant admitted a violation of probation. (1 CT 273.) He acknowledged he faced a seven-year sentence. (4 RT 903.)

On December 13, 2011, the court stated its intention to revoke probation and execute the previously-imposed prison sentence of seven years. (5 RT 1205.) The court continued the case for briefing on whether defendant should serve the sentence in prison or locally. (5 RT 1207.)

The district attorney opposed a county prison term under section 1170, subdivision (h)(1) and (2) of the Realignment Act and sought execution of the previously imposed state prison sentence. (1 CT 276-284.)

On December 22, 2011, the trial court revoked probation and ordered defendant to serve his sentence in county jail. It ruled:

[G]enerally I agree with the People's reasoning. And essentially, once a sentence is imposed, that sentence may not later be modified.

² The defendant's probation had been revoked and reinstated two times prior to the October 2011 petition. (1 CT 236, 264.)

However, recent legislation, 1170(h), technically applies to all persons sentenced on or after October 1st of this year.

Because the decision whether or not to reinstate the defendant on probation or not in this case is essentially a sentencing proceeding, the Court finds that under 1170(h) that this as it is a sentencing proceeding, the defendant would qualify under 1170(h).

In addition, because a commitment to county jail may be considered a less serious penalty than sentenced to state prison, although that may be subject to some argument by certain—depending on the individual, there's issues of equal protection under the law and the defendant should receive the benefit of any lesser penalty. Which again, a local commitment may be considered a lesser penalty in general than a state commitment.

Because of that, the Court does find that sentencing the defendant to serve the execution sentence suspended does qualify under 1170(h) as to that issue.

(6 RT 1502-1503.)

C. Decision of the Court of Appeal

On appeal, the People contended that the Realignment Act did not apply and, hence, that the trial court erred by committing defendant to county jail rather than to state prison.

The Court of Appeal disagreed. It held that "the provisions of the amended statute should apply to those qualifying defendants who committed a crime now subject to sentence in county jail prior to the passage of the Realignment Act, were placed on probation after execution of sentence was suspended, violated probation, and whose sentence was then executed *after* October 1, 2011." (Typed Opn. at p. 9.)

The Court of Appeal relied principally upon *People v. Clytus* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 1001. *Clytus* reasoned: "It is certainly true that in this case, defendant was sentenced before October 1, 2011, when the court imposed and suspended execution of sentence with probation. But that does

not mean defendant was not also a 'person sentenced' when the court executed the suspended sentence after October 1, 2011. (§ 1170, subd. (h)(6).) Whenever a sentence is imposed and suspended, it may be executed in the future after a revocation of probation if the trial court decides not to reinstate probation. The trial court must make and articulate the reasons for its discretionary choice not to reinstate probation and to execute the sentence, as the trial court did here. We see no reason why we should conclude defendant was a 'person sentenced' when the court stayed execution of the sentence but not when the court executed the previously suspended sentence." (*Clytus*, *supra*, 209 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1006–1007.)

This court granted the People's petition for review.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) provides that "[t]he sentencing changes made by [the Realignment Act] shall be applied prospectively to any person sentenced on or after October 1, 2011." This provision constitutes a saving clause, one which prevents the application of the act to persons sentenced prior to the act's postponed operative date. (*People v. Cruz* (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 664, 672-673; see also *People v. Rossi* (1976) 18 Cal. 3d 295, 299-300.)

Nothing in the saving clause reflects a meaning should be ascribed to the phrase "person sentenced" different from the ordinary one, nor can words be added to that phrase. Defendant is not a "person sentenced on or after October 1, 2011." Under settled law, a judgment of imprisonment in the state prison renders a person "sentenced," regardless of whether the execution thereof is suspended. Section 1203.2 subdivision (c) reflects that a revocation of probation results in the pronouncement of judgment only if the imposition of sentence was suspended to grant probation, not if judgment was pronounced and the execution thereof suspended as in this case. Accordingly, the Realignment Act saving clause excludes, by its

plain language, a defendant whose sentence was imposed and execution thereof suspended prior to October 1, 2011, whether or not the court afterward "revoke[d] the suspension and order[ed] that the judgment be in full force and effect." (§ 1203.2, subd. (c).)

Assuming any ambiguity attends the phrase "person sentenced," the legislative history does not suggest the Realignment Act was meant to revise judgments imposed on probationers before the saving clause date.

To say the revocation of an order suspending the execution of sentence when probation is terminated renders the "person sentenced" is to read the act as a directive to sentence failed probationers like defendant twice for the same offense—by barring the execution of the previously imposed judgment to state prison and requiring the imposition of a second judgment to county jail.

The saving clause cannot reasonably be read as commanding the court to vacate a state prison term despite a violation of probation so serious that public safety demands the execution of the previously stayed (yet, now barred) term in state prison. Such a revision of a prior judgment cannot be squared with section 1170, subdivision (h)(6)'s direction that the sentencing changes in the Act "shall be applied prospectively." If a second judgment directing a previously sentenced defendant *not* be delivered to the Director of Corrections (see § 1202a) is not a "sentencing change[] made by" the Act, it is difficult to see what would be. That interpretation of the Act directly undermines prior plea bargains between the parties, as well as indicated sentences by the court. These and other considerations strongly counsel against that construction of the Act.

The majority of the Courts of Appeal to have considered this question are in agreement. Consistent with *People v. Gipson* (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 1523, *People v. Mora* (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 1477, *People v. Kelly* (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 297, *People v. Wilcox* (2013) 217

Cal.App.4th 618,³ and *People v. Moreno* (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 846,⁴ the Realignment Act does not apply where the trial court imposed and suspended the execution of a state prison sentence before the Act's operative date, and ordered the execution of that sentence after that date.

The court should reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT IMPOSED A JUDGMENT OF IMPRISONMENT IN THE STATE PRISON PRIOR TO OCTOBER 1, 2011, THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 1170, SUBDIVISION (H) DO NOT APPLY TO THIS CASE

Defendant's offense—possession of cocaine base for sale—is a qualifying felony under section 1170, subdivision (h)(1) and (2). (Health & Saf. Code, § 11351.5.) He is not, however, a "person sentenced on or after October 1, 2011." (§ 1170, subd. (h)(6).)

Section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) is a saving clause. The provision directs that the sentencing changes made by the Realignment Act "shall be applied prospectively." No ambiguity attends the use of that phrase. (People v. Floyd (2003) 31 Cal.4th 179, 182, 185-187 [plain meaning of saving clause in Proposition 136 stating its "provisions shall be applied prospectively" precluded its application, under *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, to a defendant with a nonfinal judgment].) "The rule in Estrada, of course, is not implicated where the Legislature clearly signals its intent to make the amendment prospective, by the inclusion of an express saving clause or its equivalent.' [Citation.]" (Floyd, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 185.)

 $^{^3}$ A petition for review was filed in *Wilcox* on July 29, 2013, in case no. S212318.

⁴ A petition for rehearing was denied in *Moreno* on August 27, 2013.

Here, the saving clause in the Realignment Act is even more clear than the one in *Floyd*. The instant saving clause specifies that prospective application consists of extending the changes in the law to "any person sentenced" on or after the operative date. Established legal principles reflect that a person is "sentenced" where, as here, a judgment of imprisonment is imposed, whether or not the execution thereof is suspended for a term of probation.

Even if, contrary to our argument, the language of the saving clause were considered ambiguous, nothing in the act or its legislative history reflects an intent that a revoked probationer be deemed a "person sentenced" on the date the court orders a previous judgment into full force and effect under section 1203.2, subdivision (c). A contrary interpretation is inconsistent with the purpose of the saving clause, introduces a procedural anomaly of double sentencing for the same offense, and results in unintended consequences not envisioned by the Legislature.

A. Principles of Statutory Construction

This court's task "is to determine the Legislature's intent and purpose for the enactment." (*People v. Yartz* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 529, 537.) "We look first to the plain meaning of the statutory language, giving the words their usual and ordinary meaning. [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*) Statutes dealing with the same subject matter as the one being construed—commonly referred to as statutes in pari materia—should be construed together. (*People v. Honig* (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 289, 327.) "Where the statute is clear, courts will not 'interpret away clear language in favor of an ambiguity that does not exist.' [Citation.]" (*Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. Macri* (1992) 4 Cal.4th 318, 326.)

"However, if the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider various extrinsic aids, including the purpose of the statute, the evils to be remedied, the legislative

history, public policy, and the statutory scheme encompassing the statute.' [Citations.]" (*People v. Yartz, supra*, 37 Cal.4th at p. 537.) "In such circumstances, [the court] must select the construction that comports most closely with the aim and goal of the Legislature to promote rather than defeat the statute's general purpose and avoid an interpretation that would lead to absurd and unintended consequences." (*McAllister v. California Coastal Commission* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 912, 928.)

It is a "general principle of statutory construction that specific statutory provisions relating to a particular subject will govern, as against a general provision, in matters concerning that subject. (See, e.g., Code Civ. Proc., § 1859; *In re Williamson* (1954) 43 Cal.2d 651, 654; *Div. of Labor Law Enforcement v. Moroney* (1946) 28 Cal.2d 344, 346.)" (*Bailey v. Superior Court* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 970, 976, fn. 8, parallel citations omitted.) Moreover, "[t]he Legislature . . . is deemed to be aware of statutes and judicial decisions already in existence, and to have enacted or amended a statute in light thereof. [Citation.] Where a statute is framed in language of an earlier enactment on the same or an analogous subject, and that enactment has been judicially construed, the Legislature is presumed to have adopted that construction. [Citation.]" (*People v. Yartz, supra*, 37 Cal.4th at p. 538.)

- B. The Phrase "Person Sentenced," Is Unambiguous and the Plain Meaning of the Saving Clause Controls this Case
 - 1. Defendant became a "person sentenced" on June 12, 2009 when the trial court imposed judgment

Under the Penal Code, the sentencing of a criminal defendant is synonymous with the trial court's pronouncement of judgment and imposition of sentence. (See §§ 12, 1191, 1202, 1202a, 1445; *People v. Karaman* (1992) 4 Cal.4th 335, 344, fn. 9 ["In a criminal case, judgment is

rendered when the trial court orally pronounces sentence"]; *People v. Perez* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 548, 549, fn. 2 ["judgment is synonymous with the imposition of sentence"]; *People v. Flores* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 85, 94, fn. 6 [noting that section 1191 interchangeably uses the term "pronouncing judgment" with the term "pronouncing sentence"].)

In assessing the meaning of the phrase "passing sentence" in section 1192, this Court has declared "there to be no distinction in the meaning of the phrases 'passing sentence,' 'pronouncing sentence' and 'pronouncing judgment.' All are deemed to occur at such time as the court imposes sentence, which act constitutes the rendition of judgment. [Citations.]" (*People v. Flores, supra*, 12 Cal.3d at p. 94, fn. 6.)

Application of these principles make it apparent that defendant was sentenced on June 12, 2009, though he was not committed to the custody of the Director of Corrections to serve that term. On that date, the trial court pronounced judgment by imposing a state prison sentence and suspending execution of that sentence for a term of probation under sections 1203 and 1203.1. (*People v. Arguello* (1963) 59 Cal.2d 475, 476 [recognizing where a trial court imposes sentence and orders the execution thereof stayed, "a judgment of conviction has been rendered," citing *In re Phillips* (1941) 17 Cal.2d 55, 58]; see *People v. Banks* (1959) 53 Cal.2d 370, 384 (*Banks*) [in granting probation, court may either (1) "pronounce judgment and suspend its execution, i.e., refrain from issuing a commitment of the defendant to the adult or other prison authority pending administration of the probation plan," or (2) suspend pronouncement of judgment].)

It follows that defendant was a "person sentenced" within the saving clause of the Realignment Act when the court imposed the judgment of imprisonment. That the court also suspended the execution of the sentence has direct ramifications for this case because the court later revoked and terminated probation. *People v. Howard* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1081 (*Howard*)

explains that an order directing the previous judgment into force is not subject to modification:

[I]f the trial court has suspended *imposition* of sentence, it ultimately may select any available sentencing option. However, if, as here, the court actually imposes sentence but suspends its *execution*, and the defendant does not challenge the sentence on appeal, but instead commences a probation period reflecting acceptance of that sentence, then the court lacks the power, at the precommitment stage (see § 1170, subd. (d)), to reduce the imposed sentence once it revokes probation.

(Id. at p. 1084.)

Accordingly, "where a sentence has actually been imposed but its execution suspended, 'The revocation of the suspension of execution of the judgment brings the former judgment into full force and effect'
[Citations.]" (Howard, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 1087.) By contrast, when a trial court suspends the imposition of sentence and grants probation, "sentencing itself has been deferred" (Ibid.) In that situation, "no judgment is then pending against the probationer, who is subject only to the terms and conditions of probation. [Citation.]" (Ibid.)

In the present case, "'[u]pon pronouncement of 'sentence of imprisonment in a state prison for any term less than life' (Pen. Code, § 2600), the defendant acquire[d] the legal status of a person who has been both convicted of a felony and sentenced to such imprisonment." (People v. Wagner (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1039, 1056, fn, 7, quoting, Banks, supra, 53 Cal.2d at p. 385, second brackets added.)

2. Applying the plain meaning of the phrase "person sentenced" in the saving clause of the Realignment Act is consistent with the sentencing principle outlined in *Howard*

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