CC COPY

SUPREME COURT
FILED

NOV - 6 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

JAMES RUSSELL SCOTT,

Defendant and Respondent.

No. S211670

(Court of Appeal No.
H037923)

(Monterey County
Superior Court No.
SS080912A)

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
COUNTY OF SAN BENITO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
THE HONORABLE MARK E. HOOD, JUDGE PRESIDING

SIXTH DISTRICT APPELLATE PROGRAM

DALLAS SACHER

Executive Director

State Bar #100175

100 N. Winchester Blvd., Suite 310

Santa Clara, CA 95050

408/241-6171-phone

408/241-2877-fax

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

Although the People fail to appreciate this point, their reliance on *People v. Howard*, supra, 16 Cal.4th 1081 actually supports respondent’s position. In the situation where a sentence has been imposed but not executed, Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (c) requires execution of the “exact sentence” upon revocation of probation “subject to its possible recall under section 1170, subdivision (d)” (*Id.* at p. 1088.) Significantly, section

1170, subdivision (d)(1)^{2/} and section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) use the identical terminology.

In material part, section 1170, subdivision (d)(1) comes into play when a defendant “has been sentenced” As has already been noted, section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) applies when a person has been “sentenced on or after October 1, 2011.” As is readily apparent, the Legislature used the word “sentenced” in both subdivisions.

The controlling principle is that when “a word or phrase is repeated in a statute, it is normally presumed to have the same meaning throughout. [Citation.]” (*People v. McCart*, supra, 32 Cal.3d 338, 344.) In *Howard*, this court necessarily concluded that a defendant has been “sentenced” when a previously suspended judgment has been executed. If this was not true, this

²Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(1) provides:

“When a defendant subject to this section or subdivision (b) of Section 1168 has been sentenced to be imprisoned in the state prison and has been committed to the custody of the secretary, the court may, within 120 days of the date of commitment on its own motion, or at any time upon the recommendation of the secretary or the Board of Parole Hearings, recall the sentence and commitment previously ordered and resentence the defendant in the same manner as if he or she had not previously been sentenced, provided the new sentence, if any, is no greater than the initial sentence. The court resentencing under this subdivision shall apply the sentencing rules of the Judicial Council so as to eliminate disparity of sentences and to promote uniformity of sentencing. Credit shall be given for time served.”

court could not have held that a trial court retains authority in this situation to recall the “sentence.” Since the word “sentenced” also appears in section 1170, subdivision (h)(6), the conclusion is inescapable that it includes the circumstance where a previously imposed sentence is being executed.

Assuming that this court should nonetheless find that there is any ambiguity with regard to the meaning of “sentenced” as that word is used in section 1170, subdivision (h)(6), the term must be construed in respondent’s favor. Two principles support this conclusion.

First, when an ambiguous provision is subject to two reasonable interpretations, the construction favorable to the defendant must be adopted. (*People v. Jones*, supra, 46 Cal.3d 585, 599.) Here, there is plainly a reasonable basis to believe that the phrase “sentenced on or after October 1, 2011” applies to a defendant whose previously suspended sentence is now being imposed.

Second, in construing an ambiguous statute, the court is to consider the underlying purpose of the statute in order to “ascertain the most reasonable interpretation. [Citations.]” (*People v. Canty*, supra, 32 Cal.4th 1266, 1277.) Once again, this principle supports respondent’s construction of the statute. A recent Court of Appeal majority so held.

In *People v. Reece*, supra, 220 Cal.4th 204, the court found that the term

“sentenced” in section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) is ambiguous. (*Id.* at p. 211.)

After applying the principle found in *Canty*, the court concluded that the term must be construed to require a county jail commitment.

“When interpreted in the context of the Act as a whole, we conclude the Legislature intended to realign the incarceration of low-level offenders whose sentences would be imposed on or after October 1, 2011 as well as those whose suspended sentences would be executed after that date. One stated objective of the Realignment Act is to make local jails the commitment location for all felons convicted of nonserious, nonviolent, and nonsexual crimes. (§ 17.5, subd. (a)(5).) Because defendant is a low-level offender meeting the statutory prerequisites, interpreting section 1170, subdivision (h)(6), to include him and similarly situated offenders comports with the stated purposes and intent of the Realignment Act. (Accord *Clytus, supra*, 209 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1004-1007.)”

(*Reece, supra*, 220 Cal.App.4th at pp. 211-212.)

Notwithstanding the commonsense conclusion reached by the *Reece* majority, the People urge that Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (c) requires a different result. This is supposedly so since the provision mandates the imposition of the previously imposed seven year sentence. (ABOM 12-13.) This claim falls afoul of another well settled principle of statutory construction.

A statute must be construed in the context of the entire statutory scheme so as to achieve harmony among the various provisions. (*People v. Hull, supra*, 1 Cal.4th 266, 272.) Here, sections 1170, subdivision (h)(6) and 1203.2,

subdivision (c) may be readily harmonized.

Section 1203.2, subdivision (c) requires the court to impose the previously specified “judgment” when probation is not reinstated. When this provision is read together with the newly enacted section 1170, subdivision (h)(6), a simple result obtains. The previous “judgment” (i.e. the length of the term of confinement) is to be served in county jail. This result is entirely consistent with the language of section 1203.2, subdivision (c) since the statute does not equate “judgment” with “prison commitment.”³/

Should there be any doubt that this result is correct, a separate rule of statutory construction comes into play. A court is required “to give meaning to every word and phrase in the statute to accomplish a result consistent with the legislative purpose” (*Harris v. Capital Growth Investors XIV* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1142, 1159.) The interpretation advanced by the People would render the word “any” in section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) nugatory since some defendants would be excluded from the ambit of the statute. This conclusion is impermissible since the word “any” must be accorded its usual meaning and

³Unlike section 1203.2, subdivision (c), California Rules of Court, rule 4.435(b)(2) provides that a defendant is to be “committed to the custody of the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation” if a previously imposed sentence is executed. To the extent that rule 4.435(b)(2) is inconsistent with section 1203.2, subdivision (c), the statute must prevail. (*People v. Hall* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 950, 960 [rule of court has no force when it is inconsistent with a statute].)

cannot be deemed surplusage. (*Delaney v. Superior Court* (1990) 50 Cal.3d 785, 799 [“a construction that renders a word surplusage should be avoided. [Citations.]”].)

People v. Howard, supra, 16 Cal.4th 1081 does not compel a different conclusion. In *Howard*, this court construed section 1202.3, subdivision (c) and held that it requires the trial court to execute a previously imposed, but unexecuted, sentence when probation is not reinstated. (*Id.* at p. 1084.) Insofar as *Howard* was decided long before the Realignment Act was enacted, it offers no guidance as to how sections 1170, subdivision (h)(6) and 1203.2, subdivision (c) are to be harmonized. Indeed, the Second District has so held.

In *People v. Clytus*, supra, 209 Cal.App.4th 1001, the court found that *Howard* did not support the People’s position since the “*Howard* court could not have anticipated realignment” (*Id.* at p. 1008.) The court concluded that the Realignment Act requires a sentencing court to impose a county jail sentence notwithstanding the prior imposition of an unexecuted prison sentence. (*Id.* at pp. 1008-1009.) In so holding, the court emphasized that its result was consistent with *Howard*.

“*Howard* concluded that a trial court may not modify or change a sentence that was imposed and suspended. (*Howard*, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 1088.) In contrast, the Realignment Act does not modify or change the sentence for any felony. The Act directs that the court is to impose a ‘term described in the underlying offense’ and thus preserves the existing triad of terms for

felonies (and also clarifies the triad shall be 16 months, or two years or three years when the term is not specified in the underlying offense). (§ 1170, subd. (h)(1) & (2).)” (*Clytus*, supra, 209 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1008-1009.)

People v. Reece, supra, 220 Cal.App.4th 204 reached exactly the same conclusion as *Clytus*. (*Id.* at p. 212-213.) Insofar as *Howard* contained no discussion of section 1170, subdivision (h)(6), the *Reece* court concluded that *Howard* was “inapplicable to the location of defendant’s incarceration. [Citation.]” (*Id.* at p. 213.)

Respondent readily acknowledges that there are a slew of Court of Appeal opinions that have held that Penal Code section 1203.2, subdivision (c) trumps the Realignment Act and requires the imposition of a prison commitment for previously sentenced probationers. (*People v. Moreno* (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 846, 849-851, ptn. for rv. pending; *People v. Wilcox* (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 618, 622-627; *People v. Kelly* (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 297, 301-306; *People v. Mora* (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 1477, 1481-1482; *People v. Gipson* (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 1523, 1528-1530; *People v. Montrose* (Oct. 29, 2013, F064261) __ Cal.App.4th __ [2013 D.A.R. 14404, 14405-14406.]) However, there is a central defect in all of these decisions. None of the opinions make any reference to the binding principle that statutes are to be harmonized and meaning is to be accorded to all provisions. Since respondent has established that sections 1170, subdivision (h)(6) and 1203.2, subdivision (c) can be readily read together, the cited Court of Appeal decisions must be

deemed unpersuasive and should be overruled.

People v. Amons (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 855, cited by the People, does not aid their cause. In *Amons*, the court held that the jury trial right regarding sentencing factors announced in *Blakely v. Washington* (2004) 542 U.S. 296 could not be retroactively applied “upon revocation of defendant’s probation to a final sentence that was previously imposed but suspended during his probationary period.” (*Id.* at p. 860.) The court’s reasoning was that the “judgment” regarding the length of the sentence was imposed prior to the issuance of *Blakely*. (*Id.* at pp. 868-870.) Plainly, *Amons* is inapposite to the case at bar.

Here, the Legislature enacted a new statute which expressly applies to those sentencing hearings held after a specified date. Insofar as respondent was sentenced after that date, he is entitled to the benefit of the statute. Unlike *Amons*, the retroactive effect of a new case precedent is not at issue.

Aside from *Amons*, the People also cite an array of other Court of Appeal decisions which stand for the proposition that a trial court may not alter the terms of a previously imposed sentence. (See *People v. Allexy* (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 1358, 1360; *People v. Garcia* (2006) 147 Cal.App.4th 913, 916-917; *People v. Wood* (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 1262, 1270-1271; *In re Quinn* (1988) 206 Cal.App.3d 179, 182.) These cases are inapposite for the same

reason as *Amons*. None of the cases involved a situation where the Legislature enacted a new statute that *authorized* the court to alter the place where a previously imposed sentence was to be served. The cases do not aid the People. (*People v. Brown* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 314, 330 [cases are not authority for propositions not there considered].)

The People contend that their position is strengthened by the fact that the Legislature made no changes to Penal Code section 1203.2 when it enacted the Realignment Act. (ABOM 18-19.) This inaction supposedly demonstrates that the Legislature did not intend an “exception to the *Howard* rule” (ABOM 18.) This contention is unpersuasive.

Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) clearly and precisely states that “any” defendant sentenced on or after October 1, 2011 is to receive the benefit of the Realignment Act. Given this specific direction which applies to *all* cases, the Legislature had no need to amend section 1203.2.

The People next rely on the principle that a specific statute regarding a subject will govern as against a general provision. (*Bailey v. Superior Court* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 970, 977, fn. 8.) In the People’s view, section 1203.2, subdivision (c) is the specific statute and section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) is the general provision. (ABOM 18.) This claim fails since it is simply untrue that one statute is more specific than the other.

As has already been discussed, section 1170, subdivision (h)(6) provides a specific directive that “any” qualifying defendant sentenced after October 1, 2011 is to be committed to county jail. Section 1203.2, subdivision (c) is no more specific since it merely provides that the previously imposed “judgment” is to be imposed. Since the two provisions are to be harmonized (*People v. Hull*, supra, 1 Cal.4th 266, 272), the proper result is that the “judgment” (i.e. length of the sentence) is to be served in county jail.

The People assert that the two statutory provisions cannot be reconciled since the Realignment Act allows the sentencing court to impose split (i.e. reduced) sentences which were not formerly permitted. (ABOM 19.) This is a red herring. Under respondent’s harmonization of the statutes, the trial court is required to impose the same length sentence as was initially imposed, but not executed.

As their final claim, the People contend that the Legislature could not have intended that the Realignment Act would apply to previously imposed, but unexecuted, sentences since such a result would “retroactively” undermine “already executed plea bargains.” (ABOM 20.) This contention fails for three reasons.

First, the People did not advance the argument in either the trial court or the Court of Appeal. The point has been forfeited. (*Gavaldon v. Daimler*

Chrysler Corp. (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1246, 1265 [as a general rule, this court will “address only issues that have been raised in the Court of Appeal. [Citation]; see also *People v. Collins* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 175, 256, fn. 35 [court declined to consider issues not discussed in Court of Appeal opinion and not briefed in the trial court].)

Second, when parties agree to a plea bargain, the terms of the bargain are deemed to include future “changes in the law that the Legislature has intended to apply to them.” (*Doe v. Harris*, supra, 57 Cal.4th 64, 66.) Here, the Legislature clearly intended that the Realignment Act was to apply to previously imposed, but unexecuted, sentences arranged by plea bargain.

In *People v. Wilson* (Oct. 22, 2013, B244648) ____ Cal.App.4th ____ [2013 D.A.R. 14076], the Court of Appeal held that the Realignment Act did not apply to a plea bargain negotiated on April 29, 2011 which specified the imposition of a suspended two year prison term in exchange for a grant of probation. The court offered two reasons in support of its conclusion: (1) the Realignment Act was not made retroactive; and (2) the parties were aware of the Realignment Act when they entered the plea bargain. (*Id.* at p. 14079.) The first reason is in error and the second reason has no application here.

As respondent has already established, the Legislature intended that the Realignment Act would apply to *any* sentencing hearing held after October 1,

2011 regardless of whether a prison sentence was previously imposed, but not executed. Thus, the People are not insulated from a change in the law that occurred after the original plea bargain was struck. (*Doe v. Harris*, supra, 57 Cal.4th 64, 66.) To the contrary, the People, like a criminal defendant, are bound by subsequent changes in the law that alter the consequences attending a plea bargain. (*Id.* at pp. 73-74.)

Moreover, unlike *Wilson* where the parties were aware of the terms of the Realignment Act, respondent had no clue about the Act when he entered his plea bargain in 2009. Since the Act had not been conceived at that time, respondent can scarcely be deemed to have waived the protection of the Act.

Third, a party is entitled to a remedy only when there has been a “significant” breach in a plea bargain. (*People v. Walker*, supra, 54 Cal.3d 1013, 1024.) Here, the People bargained for a seven year term of confinement if respondent was not successful on probation. There has not been a significant breach of the bargain merely because that term is being served in county jail rather than state prison. *People v. Reece*, supra, 220 Cal.App.4th 204 so holds:

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